RECEIVED

12-15-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP1345-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDREW M. OBRIECHT,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District IV, Affirming an Order of the Dane County Circuit Court, the Honorable William E. Hanrahan Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Mr. Obriecht served 107 days in custody before his probation was revoked. When he was sentenced to prison after revocation, the court did not apply the credit. Mr. Obriecht served part of his sentence and was later paroled. Now that his parole has been revoked, is he entitled to have the 107 days credited toward his term of reincarceration? Or may the court withhold the credit and instead use it to shorten the time Mr. Obriecht has left to serve on parole?

The circuit court granted the credit, but applied it to Mr. Obriecht's remaining time on parole.

The court of appeals affirmed.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Based on the Court's decision to grant review, oral argument and publication are presumed.

RELEVANT STATUTES

973.155 Sentence Credit (1)

(a) A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes, without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or

for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct, which occurs:

- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.
- (b) The categories in par. (a) and sub. (1m) include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision or parole hold under s. 302.113 (8m), 302.114 (8m), 304.06 (3), or 973.10 (2) placed upon the person for the same course of conduct as that resulting in the new conviction.

. . . .

- (2) After the imposition of sentence, the court shall make and enter a specific finding of the number of days for which sentence credit is to be granted, which finding shall be included in the judgment of conviction. In the case of revocation of probation, extended supervision or parole, the department, if the hearing is waived, or the division of hearings and appeals in the department of administration, in the case of a hearing, shall make such a finding, which shall be included in the revocation order.
- (3) The credit provided in sub. (1) or (1m) shall be computed as if the convicted offender had served such time in the institution to which he or she has been sentenced

....

(5) If this section has not been applied at sentencing to any person who is in custody or to any person who is on probation, extended supervision or parole, the person may petition the department to be given credit under this section. Upon proper verification of the facts alleged in the petition, this section shall be applied retroactively to the person...This subsection applies to any person, regardless of the date he or she was sentenced.

302.11 Mandatory Release

- (1) The warden or superintendent shall keep a record of the conduct of each inmate, specifying each infraction of the rules. Except as provided in subs. (1g), (1m), (1q), (1z), and (7), each inmate is entitled to mandatory release on parole by the department. The mandatory release date is established at two-thirds of the sentence....
- (7) (ag) In this subsection "reviewing authority" means the division of hearings and appeals in the department of administration, upon proper notice and hearing, or the department of corrections, if the parolee waives a hearing.
- (am) The reviewing authority may return a parolee released under sub. (1) or (1g) (b) or s. 304.02 or 304.06 (1) to prison for a period up to the remainder of the sentence for a violation of the conditions of parole. The remainder of the sentence is the entire sentence, less time served in custody prior to parole. The revocation order shall provide the parolee with credit in accordance with ss. 304.072 and 973.155.
- (b) A parolee returned to prison for violation of the conditions of parole shall be incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by the reviewing authority unless paroled earlier under par. (c). The parolee is not subject to mandatory release under sub. (1) or presumptive mandatory release under sub. (1g). The period of time determined under par. (am) may be extended in accordance with subs. (1q) and (2).

(c) The parole commission may subsequently parole, under s. 304.06 (1), and the department may subsequently parole, under s. 304.02, a parolee who is returned to prison for violation of a condition of parole....

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue in this case is whether the lower courts properly applied Wis. Stat. §§ 973.155 and 302.11(7). Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶63, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. To the extent that statutory interpretation raises a constitutional issue, this issue is also reviewed de novo. *Id.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1999, Mr. Obriecht was placed on a 12-year term of probation. In 2001, his probation was revoked, and he was sentenced to seven years in prison. (270; App. 112). In 1998, 1999, and 2001, Mr. Obriecht spent 107 days in custody on this case; however, this credit was overlooked when the sentence-after-revocation was imposed. (App. 102).

In 2011, Mr. Obriecht was released on parole. Thereafter, he violated parole and the Division of Hearings and Appeals ordered reincarceration time. Subsequently, Mr. Obriecht moved the circuit court for the 107 days that should have been applied at sentencing after revocation. The state did not object, and the circuit court granted the requested credit. (269, 270). After receiving the amended judgment of

¹ In the same case, jail sentences were imposed on several misdemeanor counts. Those counts are not relevant to this appeal.

conviction, the records supervisor at Kettle Morraine Correctional Institution filed a letter with the circuit court asking for "clarification" on the order. (271). The letter explained the Department of Corrections (DOC) policy of applying belatedly-granted sentence credit to remaining parole time instead of reincarceration time based on its reading of the "mandatory release" statute, Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7):

[S]ection 302.11(7)(am), WI Stats., states that when a person's parole has been revoked, the reviewing authority may return the person to prison for a period of time that does not exceed the time remaining on the sentence. It further indicates the time remaining on the sentences is the entire sentence, less time served in custody before release. Therefore, we interpret that presentence credit granted while an offender is serving reincarceration does not reduce the reincarceration term, but rather reduces the parole time remaining on the sentence until its maximum discharge date. For that reason we have applied the additional 107 days of credit to the overall sentence length in calculating Mr. Obriecht's sentence expiration date...

(App. 111).

The circuit court approved the DOC's decision to apply the credit to the remaining parole time. In a series of letters, Mr. Obriecht objected and moved for reconsideration. (272-276).

The court denied reconsideration, stating that DOC "correctly calculated the maximum discharge date...based on preincarceration credit earned by [Obriecht] in accordance with 302.11(7)(am)." (277; App. 110). Mr. Obriecht filed a pro se notice of appeal. (278). The court of appeals affirmed

the circuit court's order and held that the result was mandated by Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7), "mandatory release":

Under WIS. STAT. § 302.11(7)(b), Obriecht "shall be incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by" DHA. In this case, if the sentence credit were applied to the term of reincarceration ordered by DHA, instead of to the remaining period of parole, Obriecht would not be "incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by" DHA. Such an application of the sentence credit would violate § 302.11(7)(b). We therefore conclude that DOC's application of Obriecht's sentence credit to the period of parole, rather than to the term of reincarceration ordered by DHA, is consistent with the plain language of § 302.11(7)(am) and (b).

(App. 105).

Mr. Obriecht, then represented by counsel, filed a motion for reconsideration. The court of appeals denied reconsideration. This Court granted review, the undersigned was appointed as successor counsel, and this appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. Mr. Obriecht is Entitled to 107 Days of Sentence Credit Toward his Term of Reincarceration.
 - A. Reincarceration is a continuance of an original sentence and Wis. Stat. § 973.155 expressly applies.
 - 1. Sentence credit under § 973.155

In Wisconsin, sentence credit is governed by Wis. Stat. § 973.155. This statute is designed to "prevent a defendant from serving more time than his sentence or his sentences call for." *State v. Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d 372, 379, 369 N.W.2d 382

(1985). The underlying purpose of the sentence credit statute is to afford fairness..." *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶70, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505.

Section 973.155 reads, in relevant part, as follows:

(1)(a) A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes, without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct, which occurs:

- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.
- (b) The categories in par. (a) and sub. (1m) include custody of the convicted offender which is in whole or in part the result of a probation, extended supervision or parole hold under s. 302.113(8m), 302.114(8m), 304.06(3), or 973.10(2) placed upon the person for the same course of conduct as that resulting in the new conviction.

In deciding whether an offender is entitled to sentence credit under the statute, a court must make two determinations: (1) whether the offender was "in custody" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a); and (2) whether all or part of the "custody" for which sentence credit is sought was "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." *State v. Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶27, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. "Custody" means any

status for which an offender is subject to an escape charge for leaving. *State v. Magnuson*, 2000 WI 19, ¶12, 233 Wis. 2d 40, 606 N.W.2d 536.

After making these determinations, "the court shall make and enter a specific finding of the number of days for which sentence credit is to be granted." § 973.155(2). "[T]he credit provided in sub. (1)...shall be computed as if the convicted offender had served such time in the institution to which he or she has been sentenced." § 973.155(3). Sentence credit is to be granted on a "day for day basis." *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 87, 423 N.W.2d 553.

2. Application to reincarceration time

Reincarceration time is considered an extension of the original sentence. Wisconsin Stat. § 304.072, which deals with the tolling of periods of probation, extended supervision or parole, explains that "[t]he sentence of a revoked parolee or person on extended supervision *resumes running* on the day he or she is received at a correctional institution subject to sentence credit...." § 304.072(4) (emphasis added).

In addition, the mandatory release statute incorporates § 973.155 into revocation proceedings. "The reviewing authority may return a parolee released under sub. (1) or (1g) (b) or s. 304.02 or 304.06 (1) to prison for a period up to the remainder of the sentence for a violation of the conditions of parole. The remainder of the sentence is the entire sentence, less time served in custody prior to parole. The revocation order shall provide the parolee with credit in accordance with ss. 304.072 and 973.155." § 302.11(7)(am) (emphasis added).

Everyone in this case agrees that Mr. Obriecht is entitled to the retroactive application of 107 days of sentence

credit because those days were "time served in custody prior to parole." § 302.11(7)(am). (App.105). And § 973.155(5) explicitly provides for retroactive application of sentence credit. ("If this section has not been applied at sentencing... this section shall be applied retroactively to the person.").

However, the parties disagree which about component—confinement or supervision—of Mr. Obriecht's remaining sentence should be reduced. The court of appeals held that custody credit must be applied to shorten remaining parole time instead of reincarceration custody. This holding ignores State ex rel. Ludke v. Dep't of Corr., 215 Wis. 2d 1, 572 N.W.2d 864 (Ct. App. 1997), which rejected the idea that confinement custody and supervision are interchangeable. In *Ludke*, the defendant argued that time he had successfully served on parole prior to his revocation was custody for purposes of sentence credit. The court of appeals roundly denied his claim, holding that "§302.11(7)(a), by its own terms, distinguishes between 'custody' and time served on parole." *Id.* at 6.

The correct result follows from the basic sentence credit rules set forth in § 973.155. Sentence credit only applies to confinement custody. *Magnuson*, 233 Wis. 2d 40 at ¶ 12. Moreover, custody credit is to be granted on a "dayfor-day" basis. *Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d. at 87. Mr. Obriecht spent 107 days in *confinement* in connection with this case. These 107 days must be credited toward his re-*confinement*, not supervision.

- II. The Court of Appeals' Reliance on Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b) is Misplaced.
 - A. Section 302.11(7)(b) is a restriction on mandatory release; it has nothing to do with sentence credit.

The court of appeals held that the mandatory release statute does not allow previously-overlooked sentence credit to be applied to a term of reincarceration. The court of appeals' decision hinged on a misinterpretation of a single sentence in § 302.11(7)(b) taken out of context—"a parolee returned to prison for violation of the conditions of parole shall be incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by the reviewing authority unless paroled earlier under par. (c)."

1. Rules of statutory interpretation

"Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. "Context is important to meaning. So, too, is the structure of the statute in which the operative language appears. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Id.*, ¶46.

"If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." *Id.* Legislative history does not need to be consulted, "although

legislative history is sometimes consulted to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." *Id.*, ¶51.

Courts may defer to an agency's interpretation of a statute; however, a court does not defer to an interpretation that "directly contravenes the words of the statute, is clearly contrary to legislative intent, or is otherwise unreasonable or without rational basis." *State ex rel. Parker v. Sullivan*, 184 Wis. 2d 668, 700, 517 N.W.2d 449 (1994).

2. Interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)

Wisconsin Stat. § 302.11 is titled "mandatory release." Under this section, an inmate serving a pre-December 31, 1999 sentence is entitled to release on parole at two-thirds of the sentence "except as provided in subs. (1g), (1m), (1q), (1z), and (7)." § 302.11(1)(a).

The exception to mandatory release that is at issue in this case is set forth in sub. (7). It involves the reincarceration of a revoked parolee. Subsection (7)(am) provides that "the reviewing authority may return a parolee... to prison for a period up to the remainder of the sentence for a violation of the conditions of parole." Subsection (7)(b) provides that, "a parolee returned to prison for violation of the conditions of parole shall be incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by the reviewing authority unless paroled earlier under par. (c). The parolee is not subject to mandatory release under sub. (1) or presumptive mandatory release under sub. (1g)."

The court of appeals interpreted sub. (7)(b) to mean that belatedly-granted sentence credit cannot be applied to reincarceration time because to do so would mean that the parolee would not be incarcerated for "the entire period of time determined by the reviewing authority." (App. 106).

This conclusion was reached by ignoring context. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633 at ¶46. The statement "entire period of time" may seem expansive. However, it is given particular meaning by the sentence that immediately follows—"[t]he parolee is not subject to mandatory release...or presumptive mandatory release." In context, the phrase means that a revoked parolee will not gain automatic early release from reincarceration. The only way a revoked parolee can be released early is through a discretionary act of the parole commission. § 302.11(7)(c).

Moreover, the statute explicitly provides for the application of sentence credit. "The reviewing authority may return a parolee...to prison for a period up to the remainder of the sentence for a violation of the conditions of parole. The remainder of the sentence is the entire sentence, less time served in custody prior to parole. The revocation order shall provide the parolee with credit in accordance with ss. 304.072 and 973.155." § 302.11(7)(am) (emphasis added).

Given that § 302.11(7)(am) explicitly addresses sentence credit, it is unreasonable to read into the term "entire period of time" a veiled reference to sentence credit. "[G]enerally where a specific statutory provision leads in one direction and a general statutory provision in another, the specific statutory provision controls." *Marder v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. of Wis.*, 2005 WI 159, ¶ 23, 286 Wis. 2d 252, 706 N.W.2d 110.

Section § 302.11(7)(b) merely clarifies that revoked parolees are not entitled to "good time" or mandatory release. It is important to recognize that applying sentence credit does not result in early release. It simply re-calculates a sentence based on time already served. As such, applying sentence

credit does not interfere with the Division of Hearings and Appeals' reincarceration order.

When the plain language of a statute is clear, there is no need to refer to legislative history. However, legislative history may be helpful to confirm and verify the plain-meaning interpretation. *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶54. A court may infer intent by analyzing the changes the legislature has made over time. *See*, *e.g.*, *In re Commitment of Byers*, 2003 WI 86, ¶¶22-27, 263 Wis. 2d 113, 665 N.W.2d 729.

Section 302.11 was previously numbered § 53.11. Subsection (7) was adopted in 1951. When sub. (7)(b) was first created, it *did* provide for early release from reincarceration through application of statutory and industrial good time credits.² The 1951 version of § 53.11(7)(b) reads:

(b) Any person on parole under this section may be returned to prison as provided in section 57.06(3) or 57.07(2) to serve the remainder of his sentence. *He may earn good time on the balance of such sentence while so in prison*, subject to forfeiture thereof for misconduct as herein provided. He may again be released on parole thereafter under either this section or section 57.06 or 57.07, whichever is applicable. The remainder of his sentence shall be deemed to be the amount by which his original sentence was reduced by good time.

(emphasis added).

² Under the 1951 version of Wis. Stat. § 53.11(1), "statutory" good time was applied as follows: "First year, one month; second year, 2 months; third year, 3 months; fourth year 4 months; fifth year, 5 months; every year thereafter, 6 months." Inmates could also earn "industrial good time," "a diminution of time at the rate of one day for each six days" for "diligence" in work or study. § 53.12(1) (1951).

In 1983 Wisconsin Act 528 §6, the legislature amended § 53.11 to replace "good time" with "mandatory release." At the same time, § 53.11(7)(b) was amended to preclude mandatory parole for revoked parolees.

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