RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-15-2015

IN SUPREME COUR FLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP1345-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDREW M. OBRIECHT,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM E. HANRAHAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

As a preliminary matter, the State notes that its records show that Obriecht was released from prison in September 2014. Because Obriecht is no longer in custody, his argument that his confinement time should be lessened is moot. See State v. Walker, 2008 WI 34, ¶14, 308 Wis. 2d 666, 747 N.W.2d 673. This court may still choose to address the issue because the way in which custody credit is applied to an offender's sentence is an issue that is likely to be seen again by DOC and the circuit courts. See id. For purposes of this brief, the State treats the case as if its outcome could affect Obriecht.

THE LOWER COURTS AND DOC CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT OBRIECHT'S SENTENCE CREDIT SHORTENS HIS OVERALL SENTENCE, BUT DOES NOT REDUCE THE TIME DHA ORDERED HIM TO BE RECONFINED AFTER REVOCATION.

There is no dispute between the parties that Obriecht is entitled to have his sentence shortened by 107 days.³ The dispute here is whether, in light of the credit to which Obriecht is entitled, DOC should have reduced Obriecht's reconfinement time, which would have contradicted DHA's revocation order, or whether the credit should be applied to reduce Obriecht's overall sentence.

A. The relevant statutes.

DHA "may return a parolee . . . to prison for a period up to the remainder of the sentence for a violation of the conditions of parole. The remainder of the sentence is the entire sentence, less time served in custody prior to parole." Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(am).

"A parolee returned to prison for violation of the conditions of parole shall be incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by the reviewing authority[.]" Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b).

B. Relevant law on statutory interpretation.

"The purpose of statutory interpretation is to discern the intent of the legislature." In re Foreclosure of Tax Liens, 2013 WI App 29, ¶16, 346 Wis. 2d 264, 828 N.W.2d 262. In interpreting a statute, this court looks to the plain meaning of the words in the statute. See State v. Grady, 2007 WI 81,

³ Obriecht's Br. at 8-9.

¶15, 302 Wis. 2d 80, 734 N.W.2d 364. "We interpret statutory language in the context in which it is used, in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes, and to avoid unreasonable results." In re Foreclosure of Tax Liens, 346 Wis. 2d 264, ¶16.

C. The court of appeals, the circuit court and DOC correctly applied Obriecht's prerevocation sentence credit to reduce Obriecht's overall sentence.

The lower courts and DOC have all correctly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(am) and (b) and their intersection with a defendant's right to credit for spent in custody. Here, what happened is simple. Obriecht had X amount of days remaining on his sentence when he was revoked. DHA ordered him reconfined for X minus at least 107 days.⁴ When Obriecht alerted the court to the sentence credit issue, the court amended the judgment accordingly. With court approval, DOC then applied its "long-standing administrative practice" to leave the DHA revocation order as it stood, but to reduce Obriecht's overall sentence by 107 days (271; Pet-Ap. 111).

Consider this hypothetical. At the time of his revocation, Obriecht had three years remaining on his sentence. DHA determined that Obriecht's violations demanded an order of revocation that would reconfine him for the remainder of his term. Obriecht then returned to

⁴ Although the record is sparse, we know that Obriecht must have been reconfined for this amount of time because DOC's letter to the court indicated that it would award Obriecht 107 days of pre-revocation custody to reduce his period of parole (Pet-Ap. 111). If at least that amount of time were not available, DOC would not have been able to reduce his sentence in this manner (Pet-Ap. 102). See State v. Obriecht, 2014 WI App 42, ¶2 n.1, 353 Wis. 2d 542, 846 N.W.2d 479.

prison to serve three more years in custody. Under this scenario, if Obriecht then sought 107 days of custody credit for time he spent in custody years ago, the circuit court and DOC would approve of a reduction of Obriecht's reconfinement time. This is because, correctly calculated, the entire three-year period was never available to be forfeited upon revocation. Obriecht's remaining time would have been shorter than that previously believed.

On the other hand, here, while the record does not reveal how much time DHA ordered Obriecht to be reconfined, we know it was less than the amount of time left on Obriecht's sentence because he had remaining time on his sentence, which has been reduced (271; Pet-Ap. 102, 111). *See Obriecht*, 353 Wis. 2d 542, ¶2 n.1. Thus, DHA's determination of the amount of time warranted by Obriecht's parole violations should stand.

Here, State ex rel. Solie v. Schmidt, 73 Wis. 2d 76, 242 N.W.2d 244 (1976), is instructive. In Solie, this Court addressed how much credit, if any, a defendant is entitled to for time he spent in custody before a probation revocation determination. 73 Wis. 2d at 77. After the Department of Health and Social Services Division of Corrections⁵ revoked Solie's probation, he was sentenced to a mandatory term of two years' incarceration. *Id.* at 82. Solie argued that he was entitled to a reduction of this term for the eighty-two days he spent in jail pending the revocation proceeding. *Id.* This Court found that it would violate due process not to award

⁵ The Department of Health and Social Services Division of Corrections was the predecessor of DOC. *See* doc.wi.gov/about/doc-overview/history (last accessed Jan. 6, 2015).

him the credit off of his term of reconfinement. *Id.* It appears that two things were germane to this Court's holding: (1) eighty-two days is a substantial amount of time⁶ and (2) that the revocation triggered a mandatory period of incarceration. As for the latter point, if Solie were not awarded the custody credit, the result would have effectively extended his two-year maximum sentence. *See id.* at 82-83.

On the contrary, here there is no concern about unlawfully extending Obriecht's sentence. Obriecht's overall sentence has been *shortened* to reflect the credit he is due from his pre-probation revocation custody. If DHA had revoked Obriecht for a period of time more than what was actually remaining on his sentence, then Obriecht would be entitled to a shorter revocation period.

The lower courts and DOC's interpretation of the at issue is reasonable. Under Wis. statutes Stat. § 304.072(5), "[t]he sentence of a revoked probationer shall be credited with the period of custody in a jail, correctional institution or any other detention facility pending revocation and commencement of sentence according to the terms of s. 973.155." This means that Obriecht is entitled to 107 days of custody. But, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b), after DHA has made the decision to revoke a parolee, the parolee "shall be incarcerated for the entire period of time determined by" DHA unless the parole commission grants

⁶ The Court contrasted the eighty-two day period to the two-and-a-half week period at issue in *Mitchell v. State*, 69 Wis. 2d 695, 701-02, 230 N.W.2d 884 (1975), and the four-day period at issue in *Kubart v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 94, 105-06, 233 N.W.2d 404 (1975), concluding that to deny eighty-two days of credit implicated the Constitution. *State ex rel. Solie v. Schmdit*, 73 Wis. 2d 76, 82-83, 242 N.W.2d 244 (1976).

him parole at an earlier date. Given the plain meaning of these statutes, DOC's long-standing interpretation of the statutes is correct.

D. Obriecht's reliance on three cases does not advance his argument that his postrevocation sentence must be reduced.

Obriecht argues that the 107 days of custody credit must be applied to the reconfinement portion of his sentence because "[s]entence credit only applies to confinement custody."⁷ Obriecht argues that the court of appeals' holding to the contrary "ignores" *State ex rel. Ludtke v. Dep't of Corr.*, 215 Wis. 2d 1, 572 N.W.2d 864 (Ct. App. 1997).⁸ Obriecht is incorrect.

In *Ludtke*, the court of appeals addressed the defendant's claim that he was entitled to sentence credit for time that he had spent on parole. 215 Wis. 2d at 4. The court rejected Ludtke's claim, concluding the plain language of the statute precluded it. *Id.* at 6. Nothing in the court of appeals' decision in this case is contrary to *Ludtke*'s conclusion that a parolee is not entitled to custody for time spent on parole.

In addition to *Ludtke*, Obriecht cites two other cases in support of his argument that the court of appeals, the circuit court and DOC erred in their interpretation of the statutory scheme at issue.⁹ Obriecht contends that *State v. Magnuson*, 2000 WI 19, ¶12, 233 Wis. 2d 40, 606 N.W.2d 536, stands for the proposition that "[s]entence credit only applies to

⁷ Obriecht's Br. at 9.

⁸ Obriecht's Br. at 9.

⁹ Obriecht's Br. at 9.

confinement custody."¹⁰ The paragraph in the case to which Obriecht points merely recites the sentence credit statute. If Obriecht means to say that sentence credit is available to a defendant only when he has spent time in custody, then the State does not disagree. Of course credit is given only for time spent in actual custody.

The second case Obriecht cites is *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 423 N.W.2d 533 (1988). *Boettcher* stands for the unremarkable (at this point) proposition that when a defendant is subject to consecutive sentences, he is to receive sentence credit only once. *See* 144 Wis. 2d at 87. In other words, "[c]redit is to be given on a day-for-day basis, which is not to be duplicatively credited to more than one of the sentences imposed to run consecutively." *Id*.

Ludtke, *Magnuson* and *Boettcher* do nothing to advance Obriecht's position that the lower courts and DOC are wrong in their interpretation of the statutes.

E. Obriecht's argument that Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7) does not apply to him is not persuasive.

Obriecht appears to argue that Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b) does not apply to him.¹¹ He argues that this subsection "merely clarifies that revoked parolees are not entitled to 'good time' or mandatory release."¹² He argues that "applying sentence credit [to the reincarceration time]

¹⁰ Obriecht's Br. at 9.

¹¹ Obriecht's Br. at 10-15.

¹² Obriecht's Br. at 12.

does not interfere with the Division of Hearings and Appeals' reincarceration order."¹³ Obriecht is incorrect.

First, the words of the statute are clear: an offender must be reconfined for the entire period of time as determined by DHA. See Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b). Obriecht's effort to parse this sentence so that it does not apply to him is unconvincing. While Obriecht is correct that the second sentence in this subsection instructs that a parolee whose parole is revoked is not entitled to mandatory release, this does not change the meaning of the first sentence. Under Obriecht's reading of the statute – that it is merely "a restriction on mandatory release" - the first sentence of the subsection is superfluous. This Court should reject a reading of the statute that renders a portion of a subsection superfluous. See State v. Meindl, 2005 WI App 176, ¶8, 285 Wis. 2d 807, 701 N.W.2d 654 (stating that statutes should be read to avoid finding superfluous phrases). If the legislature had intended to merely restrict mandatory release, the subsection would have read, "A parolee returned to prison for violation of the conditions of parole is not entitled to mandatory release." Instead, the legislature also directed that the parolee must be incarcerated for all of the time that DHA determined was necessary.

Second, as Obriecht recognizes, "courts frequently refrain from substituting their interpretation of a statute for that of the agency charged with the administration of a law." *State ex rel. Parker v. Sullivan*, 184 Wis. 2d 668, 699, 517 N.W.2d 449 (1994). Here, DOC has indicated that its long-standing policy is to adhere to the revocation order and

¹³ Obriecht's Br. at 12-13.

apply any sentence credit to the parole portion that remains on the defendant's sentence.¹⁴ Given that this policy is consistent with the plain language of the statute, the State submits there is no reason for this Court to alter it.

Third, while the statute at issue is titled "mandatory release," subsection seven clearly pertains to parolees such as Obriecht. It directs that DHA has authority over parole revocation. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(ag). It directs that an offender may be reconfined for the remainder of his sentence. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(am). And it directs that an offender must be reconfined for the entire time determined necessary by DHA. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b).

Fourth, to the contrary of Obriecht's statement that application of the credit will not affect the revocation order, application of the credit in the way he advocates would directly affect the order. DHA ordered Obriecht to be reconfined for X number of days. Applying the sentence credit to the reconfinement time would change the revocation order to reconfine Obriecht for X number of days minus 107 days.

F. DOC's application of sentence credit to reduce an inmate's overall exposure does not violate the Equal Protection Clause.

Obriecht argues that the court of appeals' approval of DOC's application of Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7) violates the Constitution's Equal Protection Clause.¹⁵ Obriecht is mistaken.

¹⁴ Pet-Ap. 111.

 $^{^{15}}$ Obriecht's Br. at 15-18.

1. Relevant law.

The Equal Protection Clause is implicated when the government treats similarly situated people differently. See State v. Feldman, 2007 WI App 35, ¶8, 300 Wis. 2d 474, 730 N.W.2d 440. Where, as here, there is no implication of a fundamental right or a disadvantaged suspect class, the court reviews the constitutional challenge under "the more deferential, rational basis review." State v. Smith, 2010 WI 16, ¶12, 323 Wis. 2d 377, 780 N.W.2d 90. The government may treat people differently so long as there is a reasonable basis for the different treatment. See State v. Quintana, 2008 WI 33, ¶79, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447.

2. Applying the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 302.11 does not violate the Equal Protection Clause.

Obriecht posits that the lower courts and DOC's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 302.11(7)(b) violates the Equal Protection Clause because a defendant who is properly awarded sentence credit shortly after he is sentenced may end up serving less time in custody than a defendant who does not realize he is entitled to sentence credit until after a later revocation.¹⁶ While perhaps superficially persuasive, Obriecht's hypothetical ignores at least two important factors: (1) it is nearly impossible to compare two defendants' sentences, time spent in prison, parole violations and revocation proceedings; and (2) the significance of DHA's revocation order and DOC's rightful reliance upon it. In addition, slight differences such as the one highlighted by Obriecht do not raise Constitutional implications.

¹⁶ Obriecht's Br. at 15-18.

As a preliminary matter, it may be useful to examine a chart of what the State believes is the hypothetical Obriecht proposes. With a slight variation in order to simplify the numbers, Obriecht's "illogical and unreasonable result"¹⁷ looks like this:

	Time	Sentence	Time in	Time on	Sentence	Time
	spent in	imposed	prison	parole	imposed	remaining
	custody		before	before	in	if released
	before		parole	revocation	revocation	after full
	sentencing				order	2 year
						period
А	1 year	10 years	4 years	2 years	2 years	3 years
					(5 years	
					available)	
В	1 year	10 years	5 years	2 years	2 years	2 years
					(5 years	
					believed	
					to be	
					available,	
					but only 4	
					years	
					actually	
					available)	

Under Obriecht's scenario, Defendant A has ultimately – although we do not know what happens to either defendant while on their remaining period of parole – spent more time in prison than Defendant B. While this may be true, it is not an equal protection violation.

First, it is unreasonable to compare any two defendants in the manner Obriecht proposes. Even if these two people committed the exact same crime, and even if they were given the same sentence, it is not reasonable to suggest that their behavior in prison would have been so identical

¹⁷ Obriecht's Br. at 17.

that they would have been granted parole at the same time. And even if they had been granted parole at the same time, it is surely unreasonable to suggest that the behavior that led them to revocation would have been precisely the same warranting identical revocation orders. Thus, the hypothesis is based on a flawed premise.

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